FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
1/3/2022 1:56 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/3/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

100527-0

Supreme Court No. (to be set) Court of Appeals No. 54335-4-II

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

V.

ROBERT JESSE HILL, Appellant.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY THE HONORABLE FRANK E. CUTHBERTSON, JUDGE

STEPHANIE TAPLIN Attorney for Appellant Newbry Law Office 623 Dwight St. Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 876-5567

### **

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Robert Jesse Hill, Appellant, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Hill seeks review of the part published decision of the Court of Appeals, Division II, issued on September 28, 2021, attached. App. at 1-24. Division II denied reconsideration on December 2, 2021. App. at 25.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Should this Court grant review and reverse when:

- 1. Juror misconduct violated Mr. Hill's right to a fair and impartial jury after one juror threatened another?
- 2. The state failed to prove that Mr. Hill "unlawfully entered" the store, an alternative means of committing burglary, when he walked through the front door of a business open to the general public?
- 3. The sentencing court failed to consider a mitigating circumstance raised by Mr. Hill?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 31, 2019, Robert Jesse Hill visited Urban Bud, a marijuana retail store in Tacoma, WA. RP 410, 412. Mr. Hill and a store security guard got into an altercation. RP 416-17. The security guard tackled Mr. Hill, pinned him to the ground, and choked him. RP 416-17, 421. Mr. Hill bit the security guard and damaged property in the store. RP 278, 422.

Mr. Hill was charged with second degree assault, second degree malicious mischief, felony harassment, and first degree burglary. CP 39-41. The amended information defined burglary as when a person "enter[s] or remain[s] unlawfully" in a building. CP 4, 40. The jury was instructed with this same "enters or remains unlawfully" language. CP 164.

During jury deliberations, things became heated. RP 534. Juror 2 reported to the court clerk that an unidentified juror (hereinafter "Juror X") threatened her. *Id.* Juror 2 said that "she had a problem and she wanted to leave because she did not want

to be talked to like that" and she "was getting threats." *Id.* The jury also indicated that it was deadlocked. RP 533-34.

The trial court judge approached the situation in two steps. First, the judge polled the jury to verify that they were deadlocked on one count. RP 536. The jury confirmed that they were deadlocked. RP 537-39.

Second, the judge questioned Juror 2, separate from the rest of the jury. RP 536, 541. According to Juror 2, Juror X threatened her with physical harm and wished someone would break into her house to hurt her:

That it – karma should come back at me, and someone should come to my house and do that to me, and she hopes that I am the next person that that happens to if I don't agree with her.

RP 542. Despite these threats, Juror 2 felt that she could continue deliberating. RP 543. The trial court judge did not question any other jurors, including Juror X. RP 542-47.

Mr. Hill moved for a mistrial. RP 545. The prosecutor was initially inclined to agree, but he opposed the motion after

consulting with his appellate unit. RP 546-47. The trial court judge did not believe that the threats "tainted the deliberations," and stated, "I don't think that it is that unusual for deliberations to get heated and people to say untoward things." RP 546. The trial court denied the motion for a mistrial because Juror 2 "indicated she can continue" deliberating. RP 547.

The jury did not reach a verdict and was deadlocked on the assault charge. *Id.* The jury convicted Mr. Hill on the remaining charges of second degree malicious mischief, felony harassment, and first degree burglary. RP 548-49.

Before the sentencing hearing, Mr. Hill filed a request for an exceptional sentence below the standard range. CP 242. He argued pursuant to RCW 9.94A.535(1)(a) that the "evidence presented at trial shows that to a significant degree, [the security guard] was a willing participant or aggressor." *Id.* At the sentencing hearing, Mr. Hill renewed his request for an exceptional sentence, arguing that "the physical contact was initiated by [the security guard]." RP 561. The sentencing court

did not mention Mr. Hill's request for an exceptional sentence and entered a sentence within the standard range. RP 564-68.

Mr. Hill appealed. CP 266. The Court of Appeals, Division II, disagreed with his arguments and affirmed his convictions. App. at 1-2. The Court also denied reconsideration. App. at 25. Mr. Hill seeks review.

### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Mr. Hill respectfully requests that the Washington Supreme Court grant review and reverse the Court of Appeals, Division II. This Court grants review under four circumstances:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Here, review is appropriate under all four sections. This Court should grant review and reverse because Juror X committed misconduct, the state failed to prove an alternative means of committing burglary, and the sentencing judge failed to consider a mitigating circumstance raised by Mr. Hill.

# A. Juror Misconduct Deprived Mr. Hill of his Constitutional Right to Due Process.

During deliberations, an unknown juror (Juror X) threatened Juror 2. Juror X wished her physical harm and told her that she hoped she was attacked in her home. RP 542. The Court of Appeals, Division II, correctly determined that this conduct did not inhere in the verdict. App. at 6. However, the Court erred by concluding that Juror X's actions did not amount to juror misconduct. *Id.* at 7.

The Court should grant review and reverse. Review is appropriate because juror misconduct deprived Mr. Hill of due process, raising a significant question of law under the U.S. and Washington Constitutions. RAP 13.4(b)(3). This type of

misconduct—threats against a fellow juror—also involves an issue of substantial public importance that this Court has not yet addressed. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

# 1. Juror X committed misconduct by threatening another juror during deliberations.

Both the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution guarantee a fair trial by an impartial jury. "The right of trial by jury means a trial by an unbiased and unprejudiced jury, free of disqualifying jury misconduct." *State v. Tigano*, 63 Wn. App. 336, 341, 818 P.2d 1369 (1991). Jury deliberations are generally secret, but they are not immune from review. *Matter of Lui*, 188 Wn.2d 525, 567-68, 397 P.3d 90 (2017).

Here, during deliberations, Juror X threatened and wished harm on Juror 2. RP 542. Juror 2 characterized the threats as follows:

That it – karma should come back at me, and someone should come to my house and do that to me, and she hopes that I am the next person that that happens to if I don't agree with her.

*Id.* Juror 2 felt that she could continue deliberating but was concerned enough to report the comment to the court clerk. RP 534, 543. She said that she considered the comment a threat. *Id.* 

Washington courts do not appear to have squarely addressed whether threatening a fellow juror constitutes misconduct. In State v. Earl, the Court of Appeals held that "[a] personal remark, even a derogatory one, between jurors during a deliberation break, is not juror misconduct if it does not involve the substance of the jury's deliberations." 142 Wn. App. 768, 775-76, 177 P.3d 132 (2008). However, *Earl* is distinguishable from this case for two reasons. First, the comment here was a threat, not a mere insult. See State v. Kilburn, 151 Wn.2d 36, 46, 48, 84 P.3d 1215 (2004) (threats can be made "directly or indirectly"). Second, the threat apparently occurred during deliberations, not during a break, and involved the substance of the jury's deliberations: Mr. Hill's alleged conduct. See United States v. Gaskin, 364 F.3d 438, 464 (2d Cir.2004), cert. denied, 544 U.S. 990, 125 S.Ct. 1878, 161 L.Ed.2d 751 (2005) (juror

discussions during a break that do not involve a review of the evidence or debate culpability of the defendant are not jury misconduct).

Courts in other jurisdictions have routinely held that threatening another juror amounts to misconduct. For example, in Avila v. City of New York, a juror reported that her fellow juror was "intimidating and threatening" and had "physically threatened another juror." 73 A.D.3d 444, 445, 901 N.Y.S.2d 23 (2010). Without investigating or interviewing any jurors, the trial court dismissed the complaining juror. *Id.* at 445-46. On appeal, the Court held that the trial court should have "conducted an inquiry" into the juror's complaint before dismissing her. *Id*. at 446. The Court emphasized that the complaining juror "did not simply report a 'spirited dispute' or 'belligerent conduct' but instead alleged that one jury member had physically threatened another." *Id.* (internal citations omitted).

The D.C. Court of Appeals addressed a similar issue in *Shotikare v. United States*, 779 A.2d 335 (D.C. Cir. 2001). In

that case, a juror threatened her fellow jurors with physical harm. Shotikare, 779 A.2d at 340-41. The Court held that the juror's "threat of physical violence and intimidation of her fellow jurors" constituted "extraordinary circumstances" and "just cause" to excuse her. *Id.* at 346 (internal quotations omitted). The Court noted that "the juror misconduct found in this case was not trivial"; it arguably amounted to "the criminal offense of threats to do bodily harm." *Id.*; see also United States v. Thomas, 116 F.3d 606, 624 (2d Cir.1997) ("we do not suggest, much less hold, that a juror's disruptive behavior—his reported 'hollering,' threatening to strike a fellow juror, or feigned vomiting—could not serve as grounds for dismissal"); United States v. Beard, 161 F.3d 1190, 1193 (9th Cir.1998) (just cause existed to excuse two feuding, distraught jurors whose conflict was "a major distraction to the deliberations of the jury and seriously distracted their attention from consideration of the case before them").

The Eleventh Circuit reached a similar conclusion in Bostick v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 774 Fed. Appx. 600

(11th Cir.2019). In that case, jurors reported that another juror "intimidated them," "threaten[ed] to use physical violence against them," "confront[ed] one juror," and "belittled them using gender-specific and racial epithets." *Bostick*, 774 Fed. Appx. at 604. Under these circumstances, the trial court properly dismissed the threatening juror for misconduct. *Id*. The Court held that a mistrial was not necessary because the threatening juror was removed. *Id*. at 605.

The Court of Appeals concluded that while Juror 2 "may have subjectively felt intimidated or threatened," the statement by Juror X "was not a threat." App. at 10. Instead, it was merely "an expression of frustration, temper, and strong conviction against the contrary views of another panelist." *Id.* (quoting *People v. Keenan*, 46 Cal. 3d 478, 540, 758 P.2d 1081 (1988)). The Court erred because threats do not need to be direct in order to convey intent.

Here, like in *Avila*, *Shotikare*, and *Bostick*, Juror X committed misconduct by threatening and intimidating another

juror. To a certain extent, disagreement is a normal part of jury deliberations. However, Juror X took things a step further by adding violence and intimidation. She made specific and violent threats, stating that someone should "come to [Juror 2's] house" and harm her. RP 542. The fact that these threats are indirect is irrelevant—everyone knows what it means to say, "I hope someone comes to your house and does this to you."

Juror X also used these threats to try to intimidate Juror 2 and get her to change her mind about the merits of the case. According to Juror 2, Juror X stated that she "hopes that I am the next person that that happens to *if I don't agree with her*." RP 542 (emphasis added). The threats were not based on a personal disagreement or general antipathy—they were based on Juror 2's opinions about the case itself.

Mr. Hill was entitled to a fair and impartial jury. An impartial jury is one that "determines guilt on the basis of the judge's instructions and the evidence introduced at trial, as distinct from preconceptions or other extraneous sources of

decision." *Oswald v. Bertrand*, 374 F.3d 475, 477 (7th Cir.2004). A jury cannot be impartial if one juror threatens another to get them to change their minds. Juror X committed misconduct, burdening Mr. Hill's right to an impartial jury. *See Avila*, 73 A.D.3d at 446; *Shotikare*, 779 A.2d at 346; *Bostick*, 774 Fed. Appx. at 604-05.

# 2. Denial of a fair and impartial jury was structural error, requiring reversal.

"Denial of the right to an impartial trier of fact is a classic structural error, requiring reversal without a showing of prejudice." *State v. Berniard*, 182 Wn. App. 106, 123-24, 327 P.3d 1290 (2014) (citing *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24 n.8, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967); *Tumey v. Ohio*, 273 U.S. 510, 535, 47 S.Ct. 437, 71 L.Ed. 749 (1927) (reversing the defendant's conviction despite clear evidence of guilt because "[n]o matter what the evidence was against him, he had the right to have an impartial judge")). Structural error includes error that denies a defendant his "right to an impartial adjudicator, be it

judge or jury." *Gomez v. United States*, 490 U.S. 858, 876, 109 S.Ct. 2237, 104 L.Ed. 2d 923 (1989) (internal quotations omitted).

By resorting to threats of physical violence, Juror X was neither fair nor impartial. Threatening physical harm on a fellow juror—in order to intimidate that juror into changing her mind—is a "structural error" because "it taints the entire proceeding." *See State v. Levy*, 156 Wn.2d 709, 725, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006). It is thus not subject to harmless error analysis and requires "automatic reversal." *State v. Coristine*, 177 Wn.2d 370, 380, 300 P.3d 400 (2013) (quoting *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 7, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed. 2d 35 (1999)).

Even if this Court applies harmless error analysis, the error here was not harmless. Washington courts "may presume prejudice on a showing of misconduct." *State v. Fry*, 153 Wn. App. 235, 239, 220 P.3d 1245 (2009) (citing *State v. Depaz*, 165 Wn.2d 842, 856, 204 P.3d 217 (2009)). This "presumption can

be overcome by an adequate showing that the misconduct did not affect the deliberations." *Depaz*, 165 Wn.2d at 856.

Here, we have ample evidence that the misconduct did affect the deliberations. Juror 2 said that she felt threatened and wanted to leave due to Juror X's actions. RP 534, 543. She reported that Juror X threatened her based on the merits of the case, because "I don't agree with her." RP 542. Although Juror 2 felt she could continue deliberating, Juror X's actions clearly affected her enough to report the incident and take it seriously. Additionally, because the trial court failed to RP 542-43. question Juror X or anyone besides Juror 2, we have no idea whether the other jurors in this case could deliberate impartially. Juror X committed egregious misconduct, but the court took no steps to ensure she could be fair or impartial going forward. Her actions were presumptively prejudicial, and there is no evidence that "this misconduct did not affect the deliberations," requiring reversal. Depaz, 165 Wn.2d at 856.

# B. The State Failed to Prove that Mr. Hill Committed Burglary by Both Alternative Means.

A person can commit burglary if he "enters or remains unlawfully" in a building. RCW 9A.52.020(1). All three Washington Court of Appeals Divisions have concluded that burglary is an alternative means crime. See State v. Klimes, 117 Wn. App. 758, 764-65, 73 P.3d 416 (Div. I, 2003), overruled on other grounds by State v. Allen, 127 Wn. App. 125, 110 P.3d 849 (Div. I, 2005); State v. Cordero, 170 Wn. App. 351, 365-66, 284 P.3d 773 (Div. III, 2012); State v. Gonzales, 133 Wn. App. 236, 243, 148 P.3d 1046 (Div. I, 2006); State v. Johnson, 132 Wn. App. 400, 409-10, 132 P.3d 737 (Div. II, 2006); State v. Spencer, 128 Wn. App. 132, 141-43, 114 P.3d 1222 (Div. I, 2005); State v. Lawson, 185 Wn. App. 349, 340 P.3d 979 (Div. II, 2014) (unpublished portion); State v. Sony, 184 Wn. App. 496, 500, 337 P.3d 397 (Div. I, 2014).

However, Division II recently changed course and held that "the phrase 'enters or remains unlawfully' does not create an

alternative means offense." App. at 16 (first-degree burglary as defined by RCW 9A.52.020) (citing *State v. Smith*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 146, 484 P.3d 550, *review denied*, 2021 WL 3929426 (2021) (residential burglary as defined by RCW 9A.52.025)).

This Court should grant review and reverse because Division II's decision in this case is in conflict with published decisions from other Divisions of the Court of Appeals. *See, e.g.*, *Cordero*, 170 Wn. App. at 365-66; *Sony*, 184 Wn. App. at 500. This Court should resolve this circuit split and provide guidance on the legal standard applicable to burglary. RAP 13.4(b)(2). Additionally, review is appropriate because Division II's decisions contradicts this Court's reasoning in *State v. Collins*, 110 Wn.2d 253, 751 P.2d 837 (1988), which distinguished between unlawfully entering and unlawfully remaining. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

This Court recently declined to review a Division II case holding that residential burglary was not an alternative means crime. *Smith*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 146, *review denied*, 2021 WL

3929426. However, in *Smith*, the Court of Appeals concluded that the prosecutor elected one of the alternative means in closing. *Id.* at 160. Thus, even if burglary was an alternative means crime, the defendant's right to a unanimous jury verdict was not violated. *Id.* Here, the prosecutor did not elect one of the alternative means. As explained below, the evidence was not sufficient to prove that Mr. Hill entered the store unlawfully, and thus the state failed to prove one of the alternative means.

### 1. Burglary is an alternative means crime.

Burglary is an alternative means offense. *Klimes*, 117 Wn. App. at 768. Specifically, "enters unlawfully" and "remains unlawfully" describe separate acts and are "alternate means of committing burglary." *Id*. This interpretation is consistent with both the legislative history of the burglary statute and with Washington case law, which has long recognized a distinction between unlawfully entering a building and unlawfully remaining in that building. *See Collins*, 110 Wn.2d at 261.

To determine if a statute describes an alternative means crime, courts begin with the statute's language. *State v. Barboza-Cortes*, 194 Wn.2d 639, 646, 451 P.3d 707 (2019). First-degree burglary is defined as follows:

A person is guilty of burglary in the first degree if, with intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein, he or she *enters or remains unlawfully* in a building and if, in entering or while in the building or in immediate flight therefrom, the actor or another participant in the crime (a) is armed with a deadly weapon, or (b) assaults any person.

RCW 9A.52.020(1) (emphasis added). This statute was originally enacted in 1975, when the legislature overhauled the definition of burglary. 1975 1st ex.s. c 260 § 9A.52.020.

Prior to 1975, first-degree burglary was limited to either (1) residential burglary at nighttime, or (2) when a person "with intent to commit some crime therein, shall break and enter" into certain specified businesses. RCW 9.19.010 (superseded effective July 1, 1976 by RCW 9A.52.020); see also State v. Christensen, 17 Wn. App. 922, 926, 567 P.2d 654 (1977). When the legislature enacted the modern version of the burglary statute,

RCW 9A.52.020, it specifically chose to replace the "break and enter" framework with "enters or remains unlawfully" into a building.

In its Opinion, Division II concluded that "[t]he actual conduct the statute prohibits is being present in a dwelling *unlawfully*." App. at 15 (emphasis in original) (quoting *Smith*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 156). This reasoning is not consistent with the legislative history of RCW 9A.52.020. If the legislature intended to criminalize "being present [in a building] unlawfully", it could have replaced "break and enter" with "presence". Instead, the legislature chose to specifically criminalize entering or remaining.

Washington case law also supports the conclusion that burglary is an alternative means crime. In *State v. Sandholm*, this Court explained that neither "use of the disjunctive 'or'" nor "structuring the statute into subsections" is dispositive proof that a definitional statute creates an alternative means. 184 Wn.2d 726, 734, 364 P.3d 87 (2015). Instead, "the statutory analysis

focuses on whether each alleged alternative describes 'distinct acts that amount to the same crime." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Peterson*, 168 Wn.2d 763, 770, 230 P.3d 588 (2010)) (emphasis in original).

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