FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/1/2022 10:24 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 100527-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ROBERT JESSE HILL,

Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

Andrew Yi Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 44793 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-2914

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

This Court's well-settled precedent establishes that a true "threat" is "a statement made 'in a context or under such circumstances wherein a reasonable person would foresee that the statement would be interpreted as a serious expression of intention to inflict bodily harm upon or to take the life of [another individual]."" *State v. Williams*, 144 Wn.2d 197, 207-08, 26 P.3d 890 (2001) (quoting *Chaplinsky v. New Hampshire*, 315 U.S. 568, 572, 62 S. Ct. 766, 86 L.Ed. 1031 (1942)). Three years later, this Court reiterated the *Williams* test and further explained that "[w]hether a statement is a true threat or [not a true threat] is determined in light of the entire context, and the relevant question is whether a reasonable person in the [listener's] place would foresee that in context the listener would interpret the statement as a serious threat." *State v. Kilburn*, 151 Wn.2d 36, 46, 84 P.3d 1215 (2004).

Contrary to Hill's assertions otherwise, juror X's statement does not amount to threat, either explicit or implicit. Juror X attemped to put juror 2 in the victim's position, albeit in "an extremely offensive and disrespectful" manner, *Hill*, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 344, by stating that "she *hopes*" that the same thing happens to juror 2 and "someone *should*" come and do that to her. 6VRP at 542 (emphasis added). Hill fails to demonstrate that juror X actually threatened juror 2. Juror X's language does not

amount to a threat as it is not a serious expression of intent to inflict harm. Thus, Hill fails to demonstrate juror misconduct and there is no issue for this Court to review.

Even assuming arguendo that juror X's statement constitutes a true "threat," Hill fails to establish prejudice as juror 2 expressly indicated that she could continue to deliberate, thus establishing that the alleged misconduct did not interfere with her ability to deliberate. 6VRP at 543. Moreover, Hill could not possibly have been prejudiced because the jury had already reached a verdict on three of the counts *prior* to juror X's remarks, and was unable to reach a verdict on the other count. *Id.* at 548. It was only approximately 20 minutes after the jury informed the court that it was deadlocked on one count, and thus, necessarily implying that it had reached verdicts on the other three counts, that juror 2 reported the statement to the JA. CP 297. Stated otherwise, juror 2 only notified the JA that she wanted to leave and had been threatened after the jury notified the court that it had reached a decision on three of the four counts.

Id. at 534; CP 297. Because the jury had reached verdicts on three of the counts and was deadlocked on the fourth, deliberations were essentially over when juror X made the remarks. Thus, Hill cannot demonstrate prejudice.

Moreover, the cases from other jurisdictions cited by Hill for the proposition that a threat made by a juror against another juror constitutes misconduct are inapposite because juror X did not make a threat against juror 2. Hill's alternative argument that "[t]hreatening physical harm on a fellow juror—in order to intimidate that juror into changing her mind" constitutes "structural error," Petition for Review at 14, also fails because juror X did not actually threaten juror 2. As discussed above, Hill fails in his burden of establishing juror misconduct as juror X's statements, albeit rude, do not arise to a threat.

This Court has clearly held that courts will only order a new trial if actual juror misconduct resulted in actual prejudice to the defendant. Here, both the trial court and Court of Appeals properly found that although juror X's comments were "heated," "offensive and disrespectful," they did not arise to a "threat" constituting actual misconduct. The trial court's denial of Hill's motion for a mistrial tightly adhered to long-standing precedent from this Court and there is no conflict of authority for this Court to review. This Court should decline to revisit this well-settled rule.

B. The Court of Appeals Properly Relied on This Court's Recent Alternative Means Analysis Jurisprudence to Properly Conclude that Burglary is Not an Alternative Means Offense

The Court of Appeals relied on recent developments in the alternative means analysis from this Court to properly conclude that burglary is not an alternative means crime. In *State v. Smith*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 146, 484 P.3d 550, *review denied*, 198 Wn.2d 1005, 493 P.3d 747 (2021), the Court of Appeals astutely noted that this Court "refined the alternative means analysis" in a series of recent cases¹ and applied this Court's precedents to hold that

¹ State v. Peterson, 168 Wn.2d 763, 768-69, 230 P.3d 588 (2010); State v. Owens, 180 Wn.2d 90, 323 P.3d 1030 (2014); State v. Sandholm, 184 Wn.2d 726, 364 P.3d 87 (2015); and State v. Barboza-Cortes, 194 Wn.2d 639, 451 P.3d 707 (2019).

burglary is not an alternative means offense. Here, the Court of Appeals properly relied on *Smith* to similarly conclude that burglary is not an alternative means offense. As the Court of Appeals tightly adhered to this Court's alternative means analysis, no clarification is necessary and this Court should deny review.

In *Smith*, the Court of Appeals noted that this Court "has made it clear that an alternative means offense is not created if ... separate acts simply represent different aspects of a single type of criminal conduct. The focus is on the actual conduct that the applicable statute prohibits." *Smith*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 156 (internal citation omitted). *Smith* analyzed this Court's updated cases clarifying the alternative means analysis. In *Peterson*, this Court held that the three different ways of violating the failure to register as a sex offender statute (after becoming homeless, after moving between fixed residences within a county, and after moving from one county to another) merely described the same single act: failure to register as a sex offender after moving. Peterson, 168 Wn.2d at 768-71, 770. In Owens, this Court held that the statute criminalizing trafficking in stolen property, which provides that a person is guilty of trafficking if he or she "knowingly initiates, organizes, plans, finances, directs, manages, or supervises the theft of property for sale to others, " RCW 9A.82.050(1), does not create an alternative means offense because the statute merely describes "different ways of committing one act, specifically stealing." Owens, 180 Wn.2d at 99. In Sandholm, this Court held that the statute criminalizing driving under the influence did not create an alternative means offense because the different ways of violating the statute all contemplated "only one type of conduct: driving a vehicle under the 'influence of' or while 'affected by' certain substances." Sandholm, 184 Wn.2d at 735 (citing former RCW 46.61.502 (2008)). Finally, in Barboza-Cortes, the Court held that the statute prohibiting the unlawful possession of a firearm did not create an alternative means offense because the different statutory provisions "all describe ways of accessing guns."

Barboza-Cortes, 194 Wn.2d at 646. Thus, these cases collectively stand for the principle that a statute does not create alternative means of committing an offense if the separate acts in the statute simply represent different aspects of a single type of criminal conduct.

Relying on this refined alternative means analysis from this Court, the Court of Appeals correctly held in *Smith* that the residential burglary statute identified "a single means of committing residential burglary: entering or remaining unlawfully in a dwelling." *Smith*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 157. The burglary statutes, which provide that a person is guilty of burglary if the person "enters or remains unlawfully," *see* RCW 9A.52.025(1), treat "entering and remaining as a single unit, suggesting that they be read together." *Smith*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 156.

Here, the Court of Appeals properly applied its previous holding in *Smith* to conclude that "the statutory language 'enters or remains unlawfully in a building' does not create alternative means of committing burglary in the first degree." *Hill*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 333, ¶ 50 (2021) (unpublished portion of opinion). As *Smith* properly relied on this Court's clear and refined alternative means analysis to properly conclude that the residential burglary statute does not create an alternative means crime, as a corollary, the Court of Appeals also properly concluded that first-degree burglary does not create an alternative means offense.

Moreover, as Hill notes in his petition, Smith petitioned this Court for review of the Court of Appeals on this very issue. *See* Petition for Review, *State v. Smith*, No. 99757-8 (Wash. May 10, 2021); Petition for Review at 17-18. There, Smith advanced virtually identical arguments as Hill does here to assert that the "enters or remains unlawfully" language created alternative means for burglary. *Id.* at 6-11. This Court denied review just a few months ago, on September 1, 2021. *Smith*, 198 Wn.2d 1005.

Hill implies that this Court declined to review *Smith* on the grounds that there, the prosecutor elected one of the alternative means in closing. *See* Petition for Review at 18. But Hill

misconstrues Smith, where the Court expressly held that residential burglary does not constitute an alternative means crime, but in dictum, went further and addressed the State's alternative argument "that even if residential burglary was not an alternative means offense, Smith's right to a unanimous verdict was not violated because the State elected to rely on the 'remains unlawfully' means of residential burglary and sufficient evidence supported that means." Smith, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 157. In addressing this alternative ground, the Court noted in dictum that "Smith's right to a unanimous verdict was not violated even if residential burglary was not an alternative means offense." Smith, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 160 (emphasis added). As this alternative argument was not necessary to decide the case, it is neither here nor there. Johnson v. Liquor & Cannabis Bd., 197 Wn.2d 605, 518, 486 P.3d 125 (2021) ("[s]tatements in a case that do not relate to an issue before the court and are unnecessary to decide the case constitute obiter dictum, and need not be followed.")

Here, the Court of Appeals properly held that "the State was not required to present sufficient evidence to show that Hill unlawfully entered *and* unlawfully remained in Urban Bud." *Hill*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 333, ¶ 50 (2021) (unpublished portion of portion) (emphasis in original). The Court also noted that "it is undisputed that the State provided sufficient evidence that Hill remained unlawfully." *Id*. Thus, this Court should decline Hill's petition, just as it declined Smith's petition just a few months ago.

Hill's reliance on *State v. Collins*, 110 Wn.2d 253, 751 P.2d 837 (1988) is immaterial. There, this Court held that "on a case by case basis, an implied limitation on the scope of an invitation or license may be recognized" where a person "receives an invitation to the premises which is not expressly qualified as to area or purpose, and commits a crime while on the premises." *Collins*, 110 Wn.2d at 254. *Collins* does not support Hill's contention that the burglary statute creates an alternative means offense merely because it describes two different ways of committing one act, specifically, being unlawfully present in a building. Rather, the burglary statute "describes minor nuances inhering in the same act," thus making it more "likely the various 'alternatives' are merely facets of the same criminal conduct." *Barboza-Cortes*, 194 Wn.2d at 644 (citing *Peterson*, 168 Wn.2d at 770).

The Court of Appeals properly applied this Court's clear alternative means analysis to correctly conclude that the burglary statute does not create an alternative means offense. Moreover, this Court denied review on this very issue recently. This Court should once again decline Hill's invitation to revisit well-plowed ground.

C. Hill Fails to Establish that the Trial Court Abused its Discretion in Declining His Request for a Mitigated Sentence

Hill raised a request for an exceptional sentence and the trial court engaged in an extensive discussion with Hill. After considering the request, the arguments of the parties, and Hill's allocution, the trial court necessarily denied Hill's request for a mitigated sentence by adopting the State's sentencing recommendation. Hill offers no arguments on how this issue merits review under RAP 13.4(b) beyond a false allegation that the trial court's conclusion contradicts a previous decision from this Court. This Court should deny review.

When a defendant requests a trial court to make a sentencing decision, discretionary the sentencer must meaningfully consider the request and actually consider such a sentence. State v. Grayson, 154 Wn.2d 333, 342-43, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005). This Court has made clear that when a defendant requests an exceptional sentence, appellate review occurs only where the trial court refused to exercise discretion at all or relied on an impermissible basis for refusing to impose an exceptional sentence. State v. McFarland, 189 Wn.2d 47, 56, 399 P.3d 1106 (2017). A trial court abuses its discretion when "it refuses categorically to impose an exceptional sentence below the standard range under any circumstances." Grayson, 154 Wn.2d at 342 (citing State v. Garcia-Martinez, 88 Wn. App. 322, 330,

944 P.2d 1104 (1997)). "[I]f the sentencer has discretion to consider [mitigating factors], the sentencer necessarily *will* consider the defendant's [mitigating factors], especially if defense counsel advances an argument based on the [mitigating factors]." *Jones v. Mississippi*, ___ U.S. ___, 141 S. Ct. 1307, 1319, 209 L.Ed.2d. 390 (2021) (emphasis in original).

Here, Hill's counsel made a request for an exceptional sentence. 7VRP at 561. During his allocution, Hill apologized for going to the store, but also stated that he had no remorse for biting the victim, Salaverry. *Id.* at 562. The trial court engaged in an extensive conversation with Hill, noting that it found the video concerning and asked Hill to comment on how his criminal behavior would stop. *Id.* at 564-65. Hill was unable to provide any insight into how he would curb his rapidly escalating criminal behavior. *Id.* at 565-67. After engaging in an extended conversation with Hill and fully listening to his attorney's request for a mitigated sentence, the trial court rejected Hill's request for an exceptional sentence by adopting the State's

sentencing recommendation for a standard range sentence. *Id*. at 567.

Stated otherwise, Hill and his counsel both advanced an argument for a mitigated sentence. The sentencer had discretion to consider the mitigated sentence. It thus follows, that the sentencer necessarily considered Hill's request for an exceptional sentence, especially when defense counsel advanced an argument for a mitigated sentence based on the theory that Salaverry was an aggressor in the altercation. *Jones*, 141 S. Ct. at 1319.

Hill's reliance on *Grayson* is misplaced. There, this Court remanded for resentencing where the trial court *categorically* refused to consider the defendant's request for a drug offender sentencing alternative (DOSA) sentence. *Grayson*, 154 Wn.2d at 341-43. The sentencer foreclosed *any* possibility of a DOSA by stating, "my main reason for denying [the DOSA] is because of the fact that the State no longer has money available to treat people who go through a DOSA program." *Id.* at 337. Thus, the sentencer there categorically refused to consider Grayson's request for a DOSA sentence. In sharp contrast here, the trial court did not categorically refuse to consider Hill's request, but in a proper exercise of its discretion, declined the request by adopting a standard range sentence.

Hill offers no reasons as to why review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b). Moreover, he fails in his burden of establishing an abuse of discretion where the trial court fully considered the request, heard Hill's allocution, engaged in an extended conversation with Hill, and exercised its discretion to impose a standard range sentence. This Court should deny review.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court deny the petition for review.

/// /// /// This document contains 4,596 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.